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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Monday, July 18, 1960.

(7)

The Special Committee on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
met at 2.10 p.m. this day. The chairman, Mr. N. L. Spencer, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Badanai, Batten, Korchinski, Mandziuk, Martin 
(Essex East), Rapp, Spencer and Stewart—8.

In attendance: Professor W. F. Bowker, Dean of the Faculty of Law, 
University of Alberta.

The Chairman observed the presence of quorum and introduced Mr. 
Bowker, who set forth his views with respect to Bill C-79.

Mr. Bowker’s questioning being concluded he was thanked and retired.

At 4.28 p.m. the Committee adjourned to meet again at 9.30 a.m., Tuesday, 
July 19, 1960.

J. E. O’Connor,
Clerk of the Committee.

Note: The 9.30 Tuesday meeting was subsequently cancelled.
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EVIDENCE
Monday, July 18, 1960.

The Chairman: Gentlemen we now have a quorum. I will call the meet
ing to order.

Inasmuch as we have with us Professor Bowker, I am going to defer, 
with your consent, until later on in this meeting a report of the steering 
committee, which met on Friday, primarily to deal with the suggestion made 
by Mr. Martin that certain individuals and organizations should be at least 
invited to appear before the committee. I think we should not take up the 
time of the committee in dealing with that report. I will simply content 
myself at the moment with stating that wires were sent, and a considerable 
number of replies have been received.

It was as a result of the sending of those wires that Professor Bowker is 
with us here this afternoon. It was convenient for him to be here this after
noon and as a result of that we immediately set up this meeting. I would 
request, therefore, that those members of this committee who are on the 
steering committee remain after the adjournment of this meeting so that we 
may deal with these replies.

As I mentioned, we have with us Professor W. F. Bowker, dean of law 
at the university of Alberta, and without further remarks from me as chair
man, professor, I would ask you to proceed to make your presentation to the 
committee, and you might indicate your interest in the matter of this bill.

Professor W. F. Bowker (Dean of Law, University of Alberta): Thank 
you very much.

Mr. Chairman, if it is not out of order, I would prefer to stand.
The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Bowker: I am in the habit of speaking while standing.
I would like to express, Mr. Chairman, my pleasure at being invited to 

appear before the committee. The Clerk did ask me if I had prepared a written 
summary. Well, I have not, except in my own handwriting, because I re
ceived this invitation on Saturday afternoon and our stenographers seem to 
think they have the constitutional and fundamental right to a five-day week.

I would like to make observations about the bill, and in doing it I as
sume two things. Firstly, that this is designed as a statute dealing with 
matters within federal competence and not an attempt to interfere with 
matters of provincial jurisdiction except, of course, to the extent that any 
valid federal act may do so, in the event of a conflict. I do not propose to say 
a great deal about the constitutional problems that have been debated a 
great deal. I would make this observation about the constitutional question, 
that many thus have discussed. I think it is perhaps particularly difficult in 
the case of freedom of press and freedom of religion because of the half 
dozen cases, starting with the Alberta press case and ending with, perhaps, 
the padlock law case, that indicated in increasing measure by way of dicta, 
or an understanding in the minds of at least a growing minority, that these 
things are outside provincial competence. The only significance that trend of
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decisions has, I would say, is that it might indicate that the bill is unnecessary 
in declaring these two freedoms, because they already belong to parliament. 
Apart from that I do not propose to discuss constitutionality.

Now, on the question of the purpose of the act, I take it that the purpose 
is better to secure human freedoms so far as they relate to parliament’s com
petence. Agreeing that that is so, then the question is; do I approve of this me
thod of doing it? I would like to dissociate myself from two criticisms that I 
have noted. One criticism is that it should not be passed because it is unneces
sary. In many respects I think it is unnecessary because in the large majority 
of instances these rights are now secure. I still feel however that it is com
mendable for parliament to concern itself with the question as to how we stand 
in these matters; and if parliament finds there are certain respects in which 
we are wanting and then is trying to cure the deficiencies, that seems to me 
to be only common sense. I do not share the view of those who object to this 
bill on the ground that if should be a constitutional amendment. My objections 
to this bill would apply so much the stronger to a constitutional bill. I pro
pose to give those reasons as we go along.

I would say, before giving examples from the bill, my criticism is that 
the object will be better attained by looking at both statutes and common 
law rules, and then asking the question: how does our law square with our 
concepts of human rights? Where it does not, then we should proceed to amend 
the specific statute to cure the defect rather than to do it by the method of 
this bill.

I think I can best illustrate my position by taking the main headings of 
the bill. Everybody has his own classification of human rights and funda
mental freedoms, and no two are alike. My favourite has about six headings 
but I do not think I will enumerate them because nearly all of them arc 
tucked into the three main headings that I find in clause 2. I know you are 
familiar with clause 2 but I would like to list the three main headings as 
they appear in the bill. The first is the proposition that everybody is entitled 
to life, liberty and property and not to be deprived thereof without due pro
cess of law. That is all one, though it covers a great many diverse things; the 
second one is anti-discrimination; and the third is the freedoms of commu
nication because, for my purposes, I think we can lump press, speech, assem
bly, and even religion, together. Some might prefer to deal with religion 
separately, but I do not think that is necessary. So we have those three large 
groups. Taking clause 2, alone, I do not think there is any doubt about this. 
It is a mere declaration without “teeth”. Then clause 3, by providing can
ons of construction of federal statutes, may provide some “teeth”. I think it 
fair to say that most of the details in clause 3 have to do with the general 
subject of what might be called due process of law in the sense of fair pro
cedure.

Now I would like to take an illustration from paragraph (a) of clause 2, 
to show the difficulty that I find in this bill from the standpoint of its efficacy. 
I would just extract the phrase, “the right of the individual to enjoyment of 
property” and the right not to be deprived of it “without due process of law”. 
Let us imagine we have a statute that deprives a person of property without 
due process of law. I would like to give an example. The Opium act says 
that any vehicle used for smuggling opium may be confiscated. I do not know 
whether the committee, Mr. Chairman, would be familiar with the case in 
the Supreme Court of Canada that says when the finance company owns the 
car and the car is seized it is forfeited.

Mr. Martin (Essex East) : That is the Excise Tax Act.
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Mr. Bowker: I cite Industrial Acceptance against the King; and that was 
under a similar provision in the Opium act. There are decisions too in the 
Excise Act, but I was referring to the one under the Opium act, because it 
was under that act that this case went to the Supreme Court of Canada. As 
far as I know, the act still stands the same way and has hot been amended. I 
did not have time to check the amendments.

Let us imagine this bill is passed, and the same thing happens again. I 
am sure the finance company will come in and say, “Here is the bill of rights. 
We are entitled to the enjoyment of our property and we are not to be de
prived of it without due process of law. ‘Due process of law’ means ‘fairness’ 
and this is the most unfair thing in the world, and we ask for a declaration 
that it is contrary to the bill of rights.” That puts on the court the task of 
making up its mind whether the Opium act does deprive the finance company 
of its car without due process of law. I do not know what the court would 
say. I am quite sure what the American court would say: they would find 
for the finance company.

It seems to me that if that piece of legislation is unfair, the best way 
of curing the unfairness is to have parliament consider it; and if it decides 
that it is unfair, to amend it. By the same token, if parliament thinks it is 
fair, I am not happy at seeing that piece of legislation left for the court to 
decide whether it squares with a broadly worded phrase such as “due process 
of law” in the bill of rights.

I think one of the tendencies of people who strongly want a constitu
tional bill of rights seems to be that everybody is fighting parliament and 
parliament is the enemy. I am sure I am not in a hostile audience when I say 
I do not take that view.

While the courts have done a great deal to secure our basic rights, I think 
that in a democracy we can properly look to parliament to perform this task. 
I do not think that parliament is doing it in the best way, when it passes a bill 
like this which leaves it to the courts to tell everybody whether parliament has 
passed unfair legislation or not.

Now, I take that example from paragraph (a), and the only other re
mark I would like to make about paragraph (a) is this: The whole subject 
of fairness of procedure in criminal matters is one of due process of law. 
After all, that phrase came from the Magna Carta—Well, the phrase “due 
process of law” does not appear in Magna Carta, but it does appear in the 
statute of Edward III, and the Americans followed it. When we talk about the 
fairness of procedure that we grant to an accused man in a criminal trial, we 
are talking about due process of law, even though the phrase does not appear 
in the criminal code, and our judges do not use it very often. But it does 
appear in the bill.

Addressing one’s mind to the criminal code, it seems to me that if we 
feel that the accused is not fairly protected under our criminal code and the 
common law rules that apply in criminal proceedings, such as the admissi
bility of confessions—that is not in any statute, it is in the common law— 
then we are entitled to go through the code, and if we find that it squares 
pretty well with our concept of fairness, then I think we should leave it 
alone. If we find it does not, then I think we should amend the code.

This example has probably been pointed out before, and I do not want 
to make too much of this, because if my criticism is correct, it can be easily 
remedied. One of the provisions in clause 3 is that everybody is entitled to 
a public trial. I think everyone knows that the public trial is a hallmark 
of British justice, and we are proud of it. But the criminal code has always 
said that certain trials may be held in camera, if the judge thinks they should
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be—sexual crimes and crimes where state secrets might be disclosed. That 
exception is in the code. If this bill is in effect, it wipes out that exception: 
I cannot see any other opinion on that.

My position is this: I do not think I have to express an opinion whether 
that exception should be in the code, or not—I think probably it is a wise 
one. When parliament revised the code so carefully, as it did a few years 
ago, it did not touch that provision; and it did not touch hundreds of others. 
I do think that it is not a suitable way to change the code, to put in a bill of 
this kind a section that all trials must be in public.

I want to say this about our criminal procedure. You see, sir, my position 
is that I favour remedial legislation where we have weak spots; but the first 
thing I think anyone should do is to ask himself: what are the weak spots? 
I am speaking of the Criminal Code and the law governing criminal procedure. 
I did do this a few years ago: I was troubled by remarks, both from this 
country and the United States, that we would not have had the procedure 
that was followed in the espionage case if we had had a bill of rights; so I 
thought I would study the subject in a comparative way. I examined, not only 
the provisions in the American bill of rights that deal with criminal trials; 
I compared them with our law, and in large measure the provisions are the 
same. A man is entitled to a jury trial, though in the United States he is 
entitled to a grand jury, and half the provinces in Canada do not have one. 
Some of the American safeguards are now outmoded; but he is entitled to 
know what the charge is; he is entitled to call witnesses; he is entitled to be 
confronted by the witnesses against him; he is entitled to bail, the right to 
counsel, and so on.

Those are all in the code. Another example is that no man shall be ar
rested on a blank warrant. That is in the code; it is in the American bill of 
rights. There are practically no differences. Our procedure, so far as is laid 
down in the law, is just as good as their constitutional protection. I do not 
think it is proper to make any comment about the execution of the law. This 
is not a Wickersham commission, and we are talking about what statute law 
can do, not the administration of it.

There is one respect in which I think our code does not compare well 
with the American bill of rights in criminal procedure, and it is this: both 
say that a man has the right to counsel. Incidentally one of these provisions 
in the bill says that even the witness has a right to counsel, which puzzles 
me. It is in one of these paragraphs of clause 3. But certainly an accused is 
entitled to counsel; but all this means in Canada is that, if he has a lawyer, 
the judge cannot exclude the lawyer. Our right to counsel does not require 
the country to provide counsel. In the United States, in recent years, the 
Supreme Court has held that the right to counsel means in capital cases, and 
probably in other serious cases that if a man does not have a lawyer, the 
state has to provide one; and if the state does not, he is deprived of his con
stitutional right to counsel, and his conviction is set aside.

Once again, I do not think I have to express here my opinion as to 
whether the code should be amended to say that the state shall provide coun
sel. I know perfectly well that in capital cases they usually do; certainly in 
our part of the country—and maybe in other cases too. But I think, in fairness,
I am obliged to point out that in that one particular we do not show the 
accused quite the solicitude that the American bill of rights does.

In many ways I think I could say that our law gives perhaps greater 
security to the accused—perhaps not in many cases; but in some. I do not 
think I need say anything more about—
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Mr. Martin (Essex East) : Mr. Chairman, I do not know that I fully 
follow this last point, and I wonder if you do.

I want to clearly understand what your point is, Professor Bowker. As 
I understand it, you said that in the United States bill of rights, the right 
of counsel seems to be confined to capital cases; and then you went on to 
say that—if I understood you correctly, and I want you to correct me—in 
our Criminal Code we did give greater guarantee to the individual with 
regard to the right of counsel than they do in the American legal system.

Would you mind telling me more about that; I am a little confused.
Mr. Bowker: What I meant, sir, was that, taking our law generally with 

their constitutional guarantees, we square up pretty well; but in the one 
example, of right to counsel, the Supreme Court of the United States has 
held that that means the state must provide a lawyer. My understanding—

Mr. Martin (Essex East): In capital cases?
Mr. Bowker: In capital cases, yes. I have the citation of those cases. Here, 

I do not think the provision of the Criminal Code means that, though I am 
aware that in practice counsel is provided.

The only other comments I would like to make under clause 2 (a) have to 
do with civil procedure, and procedure before administrative tribunals.

A due process clause, which (a) is, clearly refers, among other things, 
to procedure in civil trials as well as in criminal trials. I do not know enough 
about procedure in the Exchequer Court and the Admiralty Court to make 
any criticism of it; but there again, I would say that if the procedure is not 
fair, the most satisfactory way to remedy the defect would be by amending 
the particular act.

I think the problem of administrative tribunals is a complex one. I find 
it hard to gain a picture as to what effect the various provisions in clause 3 
will have on procedure before administrative tribunals. They are of many 
kinds, and they do so many things, ranging all the way from the most tri
vial to the most important, in an economic way, and the most important by 
way of the human himself. I am thinking of decisions under the Immigration 
Act. They are certainly more important than a lot of other decisions we can 
think of.

I find it hard to generalize. I would not like to have to answer the ques
tion: what safeguards do you think should be given in administrative pro
ceedings? Now, the courts have built up a great many, and the cases are not 
all consistent. Sometimes statutes provide that, for an example, a man is 
entitled to a hearing, and that he shall be able to call witnesses, and so on. 
Now, I would think that if parliament is interested in safeguarding the fair
ness of procedure in administration boards—maybe the position is all right 
now, or maybe in given statutes it might provide, for example, an appeal 
to the court—it could pass a general act along the lines of the American 
Administration Procedure Act that would apply generally. I have no firm 
view on that; but I do have difficulty in determining the impact of these 
provisions in section 3, dealing with administrative boards.

Mr. Chairman, I would like to move on to the second main provision of 
section 2—that of protection against discrimination. It is in this area, above 
all, that I say that a bald declaration such as we have here, even though it 
is supplemented by these provisions for construing statutes, does not take us 
very far toward securing the subject against discrimination. I do not think, 
under federal law, there is a great deal of discriminatory legislation in re
lation to race and religion. I think the incapacity of the Indians to vote is,
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perhaps, the remaining one. However, I am not aware of unfair federal leg
islation on this subject. On the other hand, we have federal legislation that 
recognizes the desirability of preventing discrimination. Now, the two acts 
I have in mind are the fair employment practices act—I do not remember 
the title of the dominion act. But six provinces have a similar act, and that is 
certainly the type of device that I have in mind for dealing with this subject, 
because it is directed to a specific situation where discrimination, presumably, 
did exist, and it has sanctions to back it up. The second act is the Equal Pay 
for Women Act. And, in this area, above all others, a mere declaration does 
nothing.

I would like to make this point clear. Even a provision in the constitution 
to this effect would not take us very far. I would like to elaborate on that 
by an example. I think we are all aware that the United States constitution 
provides that no state shall deny to anyone the equal protection of the laws. 
That is the anti-discrimination provision. It was passed to protect the negro 
after the civil war. However, when that amendment was passed, everyone 
realized the amendment itself would not do a great deal. So, a section was 
put in the amendment—it is the fourteenth—that the Congress of the United 
States should have power to pass statutes fortifying the amendment.

Now, this has been the history. Congress tried, around 1870, and the 
acts were held to be outside the amendment. From 1870 to 1957, there was not 
a single act passed by congress to strengthen the anti-discrimination clause 
in the fourteenth amendment. We are all aware, just from reading the daily 
papers, that every bill that is brought in is defeated by southern votes.

In 1957, Congress did pass an act that strengthened the right to vote. Then, 
this year, they found it did not work very well, and they passed another 
one. Congress has never passed a Fair Employment Practices act like we 
have in Canada, but they have the constitutional protection—and the point 
I wish to make is that the protection is only as strong as the sanctions behind it.

Although I think I have been talking too long on this, I would like to 
give one example. In the United States, each state has its own constitution 
and has its own bill of rights. New York passed a new constitution in 1938, 
and they put in one of these anti-discrimination provisions. By itself, it does 
not do anything, in my opinion, and in the opinion of the New York legislature 
because, in 1945, they passed an act to set up a commission against discrimi
nation. That is the device they used, and the commission mediates between 
the man who is discriminated against, on account of his race, and so on, and 
his employer, or whoever it might be who is discriminating against him. A 
lot of people in New York state said that it is no good, that you cannot leg
islate morality—and that you should not pass such a law. It was passed 
and, although I do not pretend to have a first-hand knowledge, I am confident 
the position of the negro, in employment, in New York state, is vastly better. 
To take an example, we all know, I believe, that New York’s anti-discrimi
nation law helped to get negroes into baseball. It may not have been the 
main cause, but it was a contributing factor.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): That is a great service, of course.
Mr. Bowker: Oh, yes; I am glad you agree.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): There was Jackie Robinson.
Mr. Bowker: Yes. We were not being facetious—
Mr. Martin (Essex East): I know that.
Mr. Bowkf.r:—about that, because I feel that very deeply.
I will not take time to mention the ball game I was at on Labour day in 

1951, in Brooklyn.
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Mr. Martin (Essex East): The chairman and I are Detroit fans, so you 
had better be careful.

Mr. Bowker: I had better not digress. I am too.
I think the point I want to make is that the man who is discriminated 

against in employment and in public places, for instances, going into a res
taurant and so on, does not want to be protected the way a man wants to be 
protected in his freedom of speech. He wants and needs the help of the 
legislature, of the organs of the law, to enable him to do what the discrimi
nating person refuses.

My last examples in respect of that are these. Probably this is well 
known to the members of this committee. Several provinces, I think at least 
three, have passed Fair Accommodation Practices acts. So far as I can learn 
Ontario’s has been of some value. I am not able to give a personal opinion on 
that; but that is an act with sanctions. Saskatchewan has a Fair Accommoda
tion Practices act with sanctions. The declaration here does not.

I do not intend to labour that. The reason I wanted to mention it is so 
many people who speak about this subject do not seem to realize this. They 
seem to think all you need is a statute or constitutional amendment to solve 
it, and it does not.

My third heading is on freedom of speech, press, assembly and religion. 
If the question were asked me ‘Do you see any objection to a bald simple de
claration of that kind in a federal statute”, I would say no. I cannot for the 
life of me see any harm in it; but I would like to say this, particularly in 
respect of freedom of speech and/or press. I think generally they are under
stood to mean freedom from prior censorship coupled with a pretty wide right 
of criticism. I think that is accurate enough. Now, I think it is proper to ask 
the question; how does federal law stand on that subject? I think we have 
a pretty good record.

We have had individual examples where the statute did perhaps restrain 
freedom of speech. I am thinking of the provision in the Customs Tariff that 
used to permit the man at the border or somebody else to say a book is 
obscene or seditious and cannot be brought in. There were provisions in the 
Post Office Act which could bar the use of the mails to persons circulating 
obscene literature.

I am not concerned here with describing the details of the amendments 
that have been made to those statutes in recent years; but I do think it is 
significant that parliament did pass amendments to those acts which are de
signed at least to give to the court or to a competent, tribunal the power to pass 
on the question as to whether or not the book is obscene.

So we find these examples where a certain degree of infringement of 
speech is cured by the ordinary process of amendment. There is one other 
significant example. I am back to the same proposition I stated before, that 
in the long run I think we should rely on parliament to see that freedom of 
speech is protected, and if parliament from time to time fails to do so, then 
in due course we could hope that parliament will repeal the offending law.

Of course, most people say we cannot wait for that; we have to have the 
courts decide whether the act of parliament abridges freedom of speech. I 
think this example of mine is relevant. You will recall that in 1919, thanks 
to the Winnipeg general strike when feeling was running high, we passed 
section 98 which made subversive organizations illegal and made membership 
in them illegal. I hope that is a fair summary. We had that until 1936, and I 
think one or two people went to jail. Parliament repealed that in 1956, and 
we have never had such a provision since. We still have provisions in the code 
making sedition a crime, but nothing as stringent as the old section 98.
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I think I can probably make a comparison to the United States. They have 
protection there against infringement of free speech. What have they done 
on this very subject? At the time we were passing section 98 most of the 
states passed laws of this kind because they have their own power over 
criminal law. In 1940, Congress passed a similar act of which I think you 
know. It is called the Smith act and the famous case was that of the twelve 
communists. The twelve communists argued they could not be convicted under 
this act because it infringes their freedom of speech, of expressing their views. 
The Supreme Court said the act is valid; it does not infringe freedom of speech.

So the position today is this: that without any constitutional protection 
of the freedom of speech, we have a pretty good provision in our code on this 
subject. We do not have any Smith Act, and they do, across the line. This 
comparison is not at all deprecating the American position.

Now, there is one other significant legal development which we have had 
on this subject of the freedom of speech in relation to criticism, and that is 
the case of Boucher vs. the King. That was the case in which, you will recall, 
a Jehovah’s witness was charged with sedition for circulating a very scurrilous 
pamphlet.

The Supreme Court said that the circulating of this pamphlet was not 
sedition. In 1800 it would have been sedition of the worst kind; but the 
Supreme Court said it is not enough to make even dirty and vicious attacks 
on institutions; it does not become sedition until you advocate their overthrow; 
and this the pamphlet did not do at all.

That judgment, in my opinion, is an important and significant safeguard of 
the freedom of speech; and that is one that was really made by our judges. 
I do not think we should overlook these facts when we are considering whether 
we need further safeguards.

The last major point I wish to make has to do with the last sub-clause of 
the last clause, which says that anything done under the War Measures Act 
is not an infringement of the bill. If I were to approve of this bill generally, 
I still would criticize that provision.

I am not implying that a person is entitled to the same protection of funda
mental rights in wartime that he is in peacetime. That would be fatuous, and 
it would just be leading to national suicide.

He will not suppose that a country permits its people the same freedom 
in wartime that it does in peacetime. At the same time I would think that 
fundamental rights need not be overthrown entirely. And speaking to the 
subject of our regulations in World War II under the War Measures Act, I 
would not take those regulations and condemn them. I am sure that interning 
provisions are justifiable and that many people think so. I think that intern
ing people for vigorously campaigning against recruiting is justifiable. But 
one thing that bothers me is that, if my impression is correct—and it may 
be that I should only speak for myself—I do not think we have concerned 
ourselves enough since the war with the question of what we did by way 
of regulations under the War Measures Act in World War II, and whether, 
with the benefit of hindsight, wo could not safeguard ourselves against doing 
the same things in another war.

I have a very strong opinion that perhaps most of us do not even know 
the number who were interned during World War II. It may be that members 
of parliament, with the benefit of hindsight know whether there were gross 
injustices or not. I think we should be concerning ourselves about these things.

One of the main events that people refer to when they criticize the federal 
government is, of course, the espionage case. Many people say that the rules 
of fairness in criminal procedure was broken there.
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I have never been able to bring myself to condemn the federal govern
ment out of hand for those proceedings, because the situation was a very 
grave one, and the circumstances were very exceptional.

But at the same time I wonder if we should not ask ourselves how far 
we should go even in wartime in refusing to give a man counsel, holding him 
incommunicado, and making him answer questions?

Another example of something the federal government did in wartime 
that I think should be reviewed, was its treatment of the Japanese—and I 
do not mean moving them off the coast. I think maybe in the light of events 
as we knew them then, it was justified. I do think however that we have 
not always shown as much concern for our Japanese citizens when we moved 
them hither and yon, in strange places, uncertain as to what their future 
would be, nor that we have shed as many tears for them as we still do for 
Acadians.

Maybe I am wrong, but I think we should ask ourselves whether we would 
do the same thing again. And another example that has always concerned 
me, and one which I think is relevant here—because after all we are con
cerned about the safeguarding of human rights—was that the Japanese- 
Canadians, both by birth or by naturalization, owned real property.

I understand that the acquiring of property means as much to them as 
it does to us, if not more. It indicates that they have roots. Long after they 
were moved off the coast, that property was sold. They brought action for 
a declaration that the sale was invalid, but they lost their action. I have 
never been able to see any basis in national security for selling their land. 
The only reason I mention it is because this bill is concerned with these 
things, as I think we all are.

I have finished the main points I intended to make. But may I say a 
word in conclusion: this is by way of repetition, perhaps, but the basis of 
my opinion is that a bill of this kind is not as satisfactory as ordinary legisla
tion directed to a specific subject.

I think that the process of securing rights is best left to parliament and 
not to courts, in the course of trying to find the meaning and scope of broad 
generalities, such as we have in this bill.

The phrase “without due process of law” in the United States is a safe
guard in respect to their criminal proceedings. But their efforts to provide a 
minimum wage law were held up for a long time, because they deprived the 
employer of due process of law when he employed labour on a contract at ten 
cents an hour for 16 hours a day. That is not due process of law in my con
ception of it; however, it does illustrate how elastic the phrase is. I think 
the direct way of leaving these things largely in the hands of parliament is 
better than this.

I would like to give this one example in concluding. Let us imagine that 
parliament wants to pass an act, and it is a pretty stringent act, and parlia
ment is afraid it will violate these rights; according to clause 3—this is an 
amendment that was made in the new bill—it is possible to put in the act 
words of this kind: “notwithstanding the bill of rights, anybody who 
criticizes the government is guilty of a crime”. I have taken a facetious 
example.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Not with the present.
Mr. Bowker: That sort of thing is permitted under this clause. I am not 

very much attracted by a statute like this on our statute books, when accom
panied by the fact that parliament can say, notwithstanding this, we are 
going to go ahead and pass an act in violation of this one.

Sir, that concludes my remarks.
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Mr. Rapp: Mr. Chairman, the professor has said that in respect of clause 
6, the War Measures Act as it is now is not much different from what it was 
before. Before this bill of rights was proposed, under the provisions of the 
War Measures Act the governor in council could change it, but at the present 
time this could only be changed by parliament, after it has been laid before 
parliament.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Rapp: So that in itself is a big change.
Mr. Bowker: Oh, yes, I am sorry, sir. I was not ignoring the first sub

sections of the proposed subsection 6. This is my understanding; that when 
wartime comes and a proper declaration or proclamation has been made under 
section 6, then the powers of parliament are just as wide now as they ever 
were. That is my understanding.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): I wonder if the witness has understood Mr. 
Rapp’s question? Are you satisfied that he did?

Mr. Rapp: No. In my opinion clause 6 of this human rights bill gives 
more power to parliament. Previously the governor in council had the right 
to act. During the last war the rights of people were infringed upon, but I 
do not think this would have gone as far as it did last time, because the 
governor in council had the right.

Mr. Bowker: Oh, I see. Your point is that these first five subsections 
of section 6 are in themselves some kind of a safeguard against extreme 
regulations?

Mr. Rapp: Yes.
Mr. Bowker: But I am right in this, I hope; when a proclamation is made, 

the governor general in council can still make orders in council if they come 
before parliament.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): The act provides that after the governor in 
council has issued a proclamation under this law, the order in council must 
be laid before parliament within a prescribed period. That is what Mr. Rapp 
meant.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): The effect surely is the same. Parliament in 

any event can now, and could at all times, change the War Measures Act. 
Parliament is always supreme.

Mr. Rapp: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): The only change in this act is that the order 

in council must be submitted to parliament within a prescribed period.
Mr. Korchinski: Professor Bowker, in one of his final statements men

tioned something to the effect that he was not satisfied that parliament at 
some time in the future would not introduce some act with wording something 
like this: notwithstanding the bill of rights, and then go on to provide some 
restrictions.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Korchinski: I wonder how you justify that type of statement in 

light of the fact that clause 4 provides that the minister shall consider at all 
times any proposed legislation, and shall examine this proposed legislation?
I am sure that the Minister of Justice would see the conflict between the pro
posed legislation and the bill of rights. I wonder if you could comment in that 
regard?
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Mr. Bowker: I am sure he would. I have made no comment about clause 
4, although other people have criticized that.

Mr. Korchinski: That is not my point. My point is that you suggested 
parliament at some future date might introduce, or could very conceivably 
introduce, another act in conflict to this.

Mr. Bowker: Yes. I say that because of the phrase in clause 3 which reads 
—I will leave out the irrelevant portions: all acts of parliament enacted before 
or after the commencement of this part that are subject to be repealed, 
abolished or altered by the parliament of Canada—this is the phrase to which 
I referred—unless it is otherwise expressly stated in any act of the parliament 
of Canada hereafter enacted shall be so construed, etc. Now, those words that 
I emphasized were put in the new bill. They were not in the original one. 
It is those words that seem to contemplate that possibility; it was not my idea. 
The very bill contemplates that such acts may be passed.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): I have a number of questions that I would like 
to ask Mr. Bowker.

Professor Bowker, you contributed an article to the Canadian bar review 
of March, 1959.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): That was after a legal report on the American 

bill of rights.
Mr. Bowker: No, that was Mr. Abie’s. Mine was, Basic Rights and Free

doms; What Are They?
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Yes. I just wanted to identify it in my own 

mind.
One of the first points you made was that the Alberta case settled judi

cially the question of freedom of the press, and that this act would not confer 
anything that had nof already been settled by that case. That is right, is it 
not?

Mr. Bowker: I think that was professor Laskin’s statement.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Yes, but I am saying that is what you said. I 

am dealing with your evidence today.
Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): You said that at the beginning.
Mr. Bowker: Oh, yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): You assumed, first of all, that the established 

freedom of the press was outside the competence of the provincial govern
ment, is that not right?

Mr. Bowker: What I intended to say, sir, was that many people have 
taken that to be so, and it was a starting point for a number of other cases.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): I am not disputing that statement, I just want 
to lay the foundation for my questions.

There is no doubt that the Alberta case does establish the fact that freedom 
of the press is ultra vires of the provincial legislature, that is a fact, is it not?

Mr. Bowker: Most people seem to think so. I have always thought it was 
a dictum, sir.

Mr. Martin (Essex East) : Mr. Justice Abbott’s statement, as to the powers 
of the federal government, is a dictum?

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): But the courts were all agreed that this was 

a matter outside the competence of provincial legislation.
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Mr. Bowk ER: I think it was Mr. Justice Davies and Mr. Justice Cannon 
who agreed with him. Most people agree with your way of stating it, sir— 
that it is now a doctrine.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): I would be interested to know if you think 
it is not yet settled jurisprudence.

Mr. Bowker: I do not think it is settled jurisprudence yet.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): If that is the case, why do you say, as you did 

say at the beginning, there is not any doubt that the question of freedom of 
the press is something that comes within the competence of the federal parlia
ment? I am just asking this for clarification, because I was interested in what 
you said.

Mr. Bowker: I am sorry if I was unclear, sir. The position I take is this, 
and maybe I did not put it this way: many people seem to think, and there 
seems to be an increasing number in the Supreme Court, that the statement 
of Chief Justice Duff is an accurate statement of the law, and assuming that, 
then a provision in the act of this kind is repeating what is already law.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Yes. That was the point I was seeking to 
establish. Your point of view is, that if that is the case, then this act does not 
in any way alter what is now fundamental law?

Mr. Bowker: Yes, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Yes, and the same would apply, I take it, to 

freedom of assembly and freedom of religion. You mentioned the Boucher case 
and the Roncarelli case, and so on.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): All these freedoms, you now say, are part of 

the fundamental law of the land, and this bill does not in any way change 
that situation?

Mr. Bowker: Yes, and putting it in my own words, I would prefer to 
say that the trend is toward settling the law in the sense that you say.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Yes. In other words you think, in your own 
private view, notwithstanding what may be the popular view of the lawyers 
and the like, there is not yet sufficient jurisprudence, in your mind, really to 
settle the point, is that right?

Mr. Bowker: Yes, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): I see. You would not agree that the only vacuum 

was whether the federal parliament had the right itself to change any of 
these freedoms? And I am thinking of Mr. Justice Abbott's statement?

Mr. Bowker: Yes, I agree with you, sir, that that is a vacuum, but I think 
there is a bit more vacuum.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Then you said that you are opposed to a con
stitutional amendment. If I understood you correctly, from the analogy you took 
with the American bill of rights, a bill of rights in itself does not really alter 
the situation, and that can only be done, you think preferably, by parliament, 
or by the courts, as they can do it?

Mr. Bowker: Particularly in the realm of discrimination.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Particularly in the realm of discrimination. 

You would prefer that, instead of proceeding by way of a bill of rights? 
You would go ahead and amend the specific statutes?

Mr. Bowker: Yes, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Now, do you, as dean of law and a man who 

is a student of law, in the event that this act is passed in its present form- 
some of us hope that it will not, but we want a bill of rights for other reasons,
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and want to make it air tight to meet some of the objections that you have 
mentioned, and maybe all of us before the sittings are over—

Mr. Mandziuk: That is wishful thinking.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): I take it we are trying to do a complete job 

here. Would you say that the courts in interpreting a specific statute now in 
existence will give that statute greater application than this bill of rights, 
as it is in this form?

Mr. Bowker: I do not like to be a fence-sitter; but I really think I cannot 
say. I find it impossible to predict what the courts will do with a bill like this. 
McWhinney, in his article, pointed out that they can contract it or expand it. 
Sometimes, as I know you know, sir, the courts take what might be called a 
pro civil liberties stand; sometimes they do not. I find it impossible to predict 
what the courts will do with a bill of this kind, except that I think in freedom 
of speech, the Supreme Court might give a great deal of content to it.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Have you had an opportunity of listing the 
statutes which you think should be amended, rather than to proceed by way 
of this general declaration that is in the form of this particular bill of rights?

Mr. Bowker: No, I have not, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Well, you mentioned the Immigration Act.
Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): You would amend the Immigration Act to 

cover any of the points mentioned particularly in clause 3?
Mr. Bowker: Yes. I do not feel competent to give an informed criticism 

of the Immigration Act, because I have listened to the debates of the Canadian 
bar association, and I just do not—

Mr. Martin (Essex East): But there is no question: you would do it by 
way of amending a particular statute?

Mr Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Would you agree that the Interpretation Act 

should be amended?
Mr. Bowker: Along the lines of—
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Well, this bill provides, in clause 3, for certain 

things—the right of counsel, and so on.
To the extent that it seeks, in a general way, to make provisions, you 

would cover the existing statutes by way of a specific amendment of those 
statutes?

Mr. Bowker: Yes. It would be in the code, not the Interpretation Act.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): But the Interpretation Act, I would suggest 

would be a basic act that would have to be amended in order to bring our 
existing statute law in conformity with the general declarations of the bill 
of rights.

Mr. Stewart: You would not need amendments to the individual stat
utes, if you did that to the Interpretation Act.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): I think you would, on some points. I think 
the interpretation statutes will take you a long way; but I do not know 
whether, or not it could touch the code.

In any event, you do not want to comment on the interpretation of stat
utes amendment. Then, would you agree that in order to make this measure 
fully effective, the code will have to be amended in specific points, some of 
which you mentioned—and that that is the way you would prefer to 
proceed?

23538-2—2
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Mr. Bowker: Yes, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Have you given, for instance, consideration as 

to the effect of the Lord’s Day Act under this bill of rights?
Mr. Bowker: No. I am aware of Professor Laskin’s comments; but I have

not.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): You came to clause 2; then you went to clause 

3; and then you came back several times. In my questions I may have to 
do that, because my notes are in accordance with your own initiative.

I would like to ask you: do you agree with the statement made in clause 
2, which says these rights have always existed?

Mr. Bowker: No.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): You do not agree with that, as a statement 

of fact?
Mr. Bowker: No.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Then, what did you mean when you said, with 

regard to clause 2, that there was no sanction in the section?
Mr. Bowker: I meant that it is a bare declaration, and a bare declara

tion does not have sanctions. That is the best I can do.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): There is no way of giving effect to the wording 

of clause 2; that is what you are saying?
Mr. Bowker: I think that is particularly true in the case of discrimination 

and due process.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Yes.
Mr. Bowker: I am not so sure about freedom of speech and religion. It may 

be that a bald declaration would have some efficacy.
Mr. Martin (Essex-East) : I think it does, there. Do you want to comment 

on the argument that clause 2 is an invasion, because of its ambiguity, on 
provincial rights?

Mr. Bowker: I would express the offhand opinion that it is not an invasion 
of provincial rights.

Mr. Martin (Essex East) : I direct your attention to clause 2:
It is hereby recognized and declared that in Canada there have 

always existed—
You said that is not the fact:

—and shall continue to exist the following human rights.
Does the federal parliament have the power, altogether apart from our 

desire, to say that these rights shall exist in Canada; or arc we confined only 
to saying that it is hereby recognized and declared that in those parts of Canada 
where the federal government has jurisdiction, the following human rights and 
fundamental freedoms, et cetera?

Mr. Bowker: I am quite confident that it means the latter.
Mr. Martin (Essex East) : There is no doubt what the intention was. There 

is no doubt, from the debates of the House of Commons. Every one of us in this 
committee, members of the government, members of the opposition, intend it 
only to deal with something that comes within the authority of the provinces— 
there is no doubt about that.

The Chairman: Not the authority of the provinces, Mr. Martin.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Of the federal government; thank you, Mr. 

Chairman. But what I am pointing out to you is, that if the courts come to 
interpret this, they are not going to look at what any individual member of
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parliament said, because they cannot look at the debates of the House of 
Commons: they are going to look at the language of the statute. And I suggest 
to you that there is at least grave doubt—if you do not fully agree with me— 
that “Canada” there has a geographic application, and not a jurisdictional 
application.

Mr. Bowker: Yes. May I make this comment? Taking the opening words 
of clause 2 by themselves, I agree that they could be interpreted as applying to 
provincial legislation. My opinion was based on reading the act as a whole.

Mr. Martin (Essex East) : I want to be fair. Then you would say that when 
anyone looks at this statute, they will read it with clause 3?

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East) : You think that clause 3 does clearly indicate 

that?
Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East) : Have you read Professor Louis Pigeon’s article?
Mr. Bowker: Yes, I did.
Mr. Martin (Essex East) : You do not agree with him?
Mr. Bowker: No, I do not, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Then there is no sense pursuing that, if you are 

of an opposite view. Are you satisfied that the use of the phrase “due process” 
there is clear enough? Do you know whether that means “due process according 
to law” or “due process according to natural justice”?

Mr. Bowker: I do not know, because the phrase “due process of law” 
certainly, as it has been defined and applied in the United States, takes various 
forms, and it would be a pretty bold person who would attempt to define it 
precisely.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Would you think that if we were to define it 
to say “not to be deprived thereof except by law”, it would be just as effective 
as saying “by due process of law”?

Mr. Bowker: Except this, sir: I think the phrase “due process”, although 
it is not precise, is designed to carry the notion of fairness, and that might be 
lost by cutting it out. Of course, Magna Carta said “judgment by his peers, or 
the law of the land”.

Mr. Martin (Essex East) : You yourself pointed out that the first reference 
to “due process” was in one of the acts of King Edward.

Mr. Bowker: Yes, King Edward III.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): And it is not very often used in our legal jargon 

of jurisprudence, is it?
Mr. Bowker: No.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): The remark that you made with regard to 

“Canada”, I take it would also apply to the word “property” in the ninth line; 
that that is clearly meant to be property that comes within the exclusive 
authority of the federal government, because of clause 3?

Mr. Bowker: Yes. I was working off a newspaper account, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): In clause 2(a) they speak of “person and enjoy

ment of property”.
Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): You do not think there is any danger there 

of that being regarded as an invasion of property and civil rights?
Mr. Bowker: I agree it is arguable that it could be construed as including 

property and civil rights. But—
23538-2 -2}
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Mr. Martin (Essex East): But in your judgment, in fairness to you, it 
does not, because of the language of clause 3?

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): And you think that the courts, by their rules 

of interpretation, having in mind what clause 2 is—it is declaration: it is not 
an operable clause; and clause 3 is operable—you think, nevertheless, that 
under the judicial rules of interpretation clause 3 would govern the meaning 
of clause 2?

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Mr. Chairman, I have a lot of questions; but 

if there are others who want to intervene, I do not mind.
The Chairman: I would think, Mr. Martin, if your questions are on one 

phase of Professor Bowker’s presentation—
Mr. Martin (Essex East): They are all on his presentation.
The Chairman: Yes, I know. But if they are on one particular phase of 

it, I think we might clear up that phase at one time, and then you can go on 
to the next phase. That might be a more orderly way of dealing with it.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): All right. I am now coming back to clause 2, 
because that is the way you did it. You spoke of the question of enjoyment of 
property, and you took that as an example of the desirability of proceeding 
by way of an amendment of a statute, and not by way of a bill of rights. You 
took as your example the Narcotics Act, where property may be confiscated 
without due process. You would say that the way to do that is not by mere 
general declaration; but by a specific amendment to that act?

Mr. Bowker: Yes, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): And a specific amendment to other like acts; 

and you mentioned, in answer to an observation of mine, the Excise Tax Act, 
and other acts where confiscation may take place?

I do not have too much time for this sort of thing, but I have now listed 
some 48 statutes that I think have got to be amended in order to make this 
act effective. It would save an awful lot of time if you could teU me whether 
you have had an opportunity of doing that.

Mr. Bowker: I have not done it, sir. I have always been interested in the 
subject, and if I had foreseen earlier than 48 hours ago that I would have the 
privilege of coming down here, I would have been glad to do it.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): I have one more question on clause 2, before 
coming to clause 3; and then I will let somebody else ask you questions.

After you had been talking about administrative tribunals, you came back 
to clause 2 and you said that it does not take us any further than protection 
against discrimination in a general way. Then you mentioned again the desir
ability of proceeding by way of specific amendment.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Are you aware that at the present time, col

oured Canadian citizens—six that I know of, in four different cities—have 
been denied the opportunity of taking advantage of the central mortgage and 
housing legislation because of colour? You are not aware of that?

Mr. Bowker: No.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): Well, assuming that that is the fact, as it is—■
Mr. Bowker: I think I read it in the paper, sir.
Mr. Martin (Essex East) : —how would you deal with that discrimination?
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Mr. Bowker: This is my spontaneous answer, sir—I have not reflected on 
it; but I think I would be prepared to stand by this. I would put into the statute 
—I do not know enough about it to say how—a safeguard that the monies 
should be distributed without racial discrimination.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): It is suggested that very often the application 
is one that is addressed to a lending institution and that the only authority 
which has any power of dealing with that is the province. As property and 
civil rights come under the provinces, that would seem to be a sound reply; 
but that does not remove the discrimination I am suggesting to you now, that 
that being the case, and since the federal government guarantees I think 75 
per cent of the loan, something ought to be done by the federal government 
to protect that particular individual. Have you any suggestion to make as to 
how this could be done? In other words, can you suggest how we can deal with 
this thing so as to bring it within the authority of the federal parliament.

Mr. Bowker: No. Anything I could say off-hand I do not think would be 
very helpful, sir. If it is not irrelevant, I can think of a parallel point to this 
situation. Let us assume that the federal government grants liquor licences 
in the Northwest Territories. I do not know their liquor laws; but assuming 
they are similar to a typical provincial law and that a person who had a 
licence for a cocktail lounge would not serve negroes. I would think it 
would be possible to provide that licences could be revoked for such dis
crimination, but I am not clear on the means of applying a similar principle to 
central mortgage and housing.

The Chairman: Professor, I tried to follow your presentation with a good 
deal of care and thought, and I have listened with a good deal of interest to 
your further comments as a result of the questions asked by Mr. Martin. I 
must say that I remain unconvinced that you are correct when you suggest 
we should first amend the statutes before passing this bill of rights. Am I 
correct that that is what you have indicated?

Mr. Bowker: Not quite. My basic position is this: if in a given area 
on a given subject matter the law is not deficient by way of safeguarding 
human rights, just leave it as it is. If it is deficient, then remedy the deficiency 
by a statute on the original subject rather than this one. I think that is a 
little different from your understanding.

The Chairman : What do you see wrong with proceeding as this bill 
contemplates we should proced? I am inclined to feel this is the way in which 
we should proceed by this bill, in setting forth, as we do in clause 2, broad 
principles of human rights and fundamental freedoms, and then in clause 3 
provide what I think is remedial legislation and also substantive legislation 
by saying to the courts “When you construe or apply a federal statute”— 
which of course simply is giving judgment in relation to that federal statute—■ 
“you shall not construe or apply it so as to abridge these freedoms”. Does 
that not require the court to vary or amend what its judgment otherwise 
would be on the matter before it, if it were not for the passing of this bill, 
and that it must amend the judgment so that it does not offend against these 
rights declared in the bill?

Mr. Bowker: My objection, Mr. Chairman, is that the course you have 
described is one that results in greater uncertainty as to what the law will 
turn out to be. If I might use one example from criminal procedure—from 
the criminal law—-we are thinking of this subject of fairness, due process of 
law. Let us imagine there is nothing in the code on the subject. I will take 
the subject of blood tests. Assume there is nothing in the code on blood 
tests, although I know there is in connection with drunken and impaired 
driving. While the man is unconscious the police take a few drops from
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a pool of blood and have it analyzed and a high degree of alcohol is shown. 
He may argue when he is charged—he may be charged with manslaughter, 
as it may turn out that someone is killed—that the submitting of that evidence 
does not meet the requirements of due process. I would think it more satis
factory either to leave the subject where it is, in the light of the cases we have 
on it—and we do have some—or provide in the code whether or not that 
should be admitted.

The Chairman: I follow your reasoning, but I cannot say that I agree 
with it. Would it not be preferable, as indicated by this bill, to declare these 
principles in the interpretation of the statutes and in the applicaion of the 
statutes, and leave it then for the courts to decide in the case you have mentioned 
whether or not there has been in the Criminal Code a violation of one of 
these principles. It at least points up the situation, whether the court gives 
effect to it or whether it does not. As a result of that we will have pointed 
out to us the areas in which it is quite possible that the legislation does 
offend—that is the legislation as it now stands on the statute books—does 
offend against some of these declared principles. Because I think if we 
were to do it in the way in which you suggest, it would be a very very long 
time before we ever got to the point of the desired situation in respect of all 
the statute law of the country.

Mr. Bowker: I think, sir, in the realm of criminal procedure we are in 
a pretty satisfactory position now. Might I give one example to show what I 
consider to be a difficulty of the method in the bill. Our Criminal Code, exactly 
as it is now provides for corporal punishment. Now, suppose this bill is passed 
and a man is sentenced to whipping. Then, he appeals on the ground that that 
is a cruel and unusual punishment. I do not think I have to give an opinion as to 
whether it is or is not. It is most unlikely that a court would say it is; but 
I think it conceivable, even though unlikely, that a court could say it is a 
cruel and unusual punishment. If I am right in that then I would feel that 
if whipping is to be abolished it should be taken out of the code rather than 
done through this medium. That is my position, sir.

The Chairman: Do you not think that a court, after hearing counsel in 
a case, is going to come up with a judicial decision which would be indicative, 
or reliable shall we say, as to whether or not it is inhuman or—

Mr. Bowker: Cruel or degrading treatment.
The Chairman: Yes—whether it falls within that category.
Mr. Bowker: I would have thought it is for parliament to decide.
The Chairman: Parliament has decided that whipping shall exist.
Mr. Martin: (Essex East) : That is his point.
The Chairman: If that is a violation of the declared principle of no one 

being subjected to inhuman treatment, who better can decide that than the 
courts?

Mr. Martin: (Essex East): I think he has put his finger on the real 
dilemma.

The Chairman: Do you agree or do you not agree that it is better to 
leave it to the courts to decide?

Mr. Bowker: I do not agree with your suggestion. I would have hoped 
that my position on that was clear by this time.

The Chairman: Would you agree that there is an area for disagreement 
on that subject?
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Mr. Bowker: I agree that our judges have done a great deal to give sub
stance to fairness of procedure; but I think where we have statutes on a 
subject it is not then desirable to pass another statute of broad generaliza
tions that judges may use for the purposes of modifying the specific one.

The Chairman: I notice also that you have disagreed with the words in 
clause 1 “it is hereby recognized and declared—

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Are you going on to another point now?
The Chairman: Yes—“that in Canada there have always existed and 

shall continue to exist the following human rights and fundamental free
doms—” and you rather indicated that they have not existed. Is there not a 
difference between something that exists as a right which is denied to a 
person and something that exists and is being given to a person. You have 
mentioned the Boucher case as the enunciation of a principle that is not 
founded upon any statute. Is it not a fact that these things have existed but 
they have not been granted? they have been violated; and what we are doing 
now is saying they have existed, that they still exist, and from now on they 
are going to be granted to everyone.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): No. He mentioned the Winnipeg strike. It did 
not exist at that time. I could mention a whole series of others. He simply 
says it is not fair to say it always existed. He agrees with Professor Scott who 
says as a matter of fact that is not true.

The Chairman: I suggest what has happened is that the rights have been 
denied to people, and not that they have not existed.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): The charges in the Winnipeg strike were based 
upon section 98 in the Criminal Code. That was a right that was denied them 
under the Criminal Code, and it was only when the Criminal Code was 
amended in 1936 that that right came into existence. That is the evidence that 
he has given, and I think it is correct historically.

The Chairman: That is because the court has given effect to section 98 
which violated some of these fundamental rights.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): No, it is not, because parliament repealed 
section 98.

Mr. Bowker: Sir, might I give one example to illustrate a right that is 
considered basic in this act that did not exist. One of the basic rights is the 
protection of the law without discrimination by reason of sex. I will just take 
that example. There was a time, long after 1867, when women could not vote 
either in provincial or federal elections. Take it either way you want. I 
would think it would be correct to say that that particular right, that is 
enjoyed today, did not exist. Nor did the right for women to sit on the Senate 
exist.

The Chairman: Is the whole matter not an academic discussion? It has 
been mentioned many times that clause 2 is only declaratory, so that it is 
really purely an academic discussion. It does not do any harm, does it?

Mr. Martin (Essex East): He has said that. He has said clause 2 is 
merely declaratory of the existing law, but that is not the claim, as to the 
purpose, as given to this clause by those who oppose it.

The Chairman: Let us get down to specific words. Would you change 
this, and if so, how?

Mr. Bowker: Speaking in regard to clause 2, a declaration by itself, I 
did not intend to take the position that it, taken by itself, was positively 
harmful. I did not mean to say that.
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Mr. Martin (Essex East): Nor has anyone else at any time, to my knowl
edge.

Mr. Bowker: I was speaking rather of its affirmative value.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): I have another question I would like to ask, 

but I know Mr. Mandziuk has been waiting to ask a question.
Mr. Mandziuk: Professor, I think you gave us a fairly academic analysis 

of this bill. You appear to be disturbed about the violation of human rights 
under certain laws that we already have, such as the Narcotics Act, the Excise 
Act, and the War Measures Act, and you could perhaps even include section 
98 of the Criminal Code, which has been repealed. Might it not be argued that, 
if parliament sees fit to provide a penalty for a breach of certain provisions 
of the law, anyone, although deprived of his property and deprived of his 
liberty, is legally deprived of these things, and that is the due process of the 
law? Might it not be argued that anything we have done under the War 
Measures Act, supposing we changed it or left it as it is, and war broke out 
and the act is applied again, that it is due process of law? This bill specifically 
states that one cannot be deprived of this, and this, without due process of 
law. Might that not be argued?

Mr. Bowker: I think it might be, sir. I think, however, the general under
standing of “due process of law” means, certain fundamental fairness. In 
regard to your alternate suggestion, in respect of its being arguable, I just do 
not think that has been the understanding.

Mr. Mandziuk: Yes, but I believe we should stick to the legal understand
ing, especially you, being an eminent jurist, lawyer and dean of law.

I have another question, professor. Do you not think that the dean of the 
Manitoba law school would disagree with your opinion?

Mr. Bowker: Well, I happen to know him quite well and have talked to 
him, but I would prefer, not even by inference, to attempt to quote his opinions. 
In all fairness, I would prefer not to do that, sir.

Mr. Mandziuk: Are you familiar with the brief presented by the Cana
dian bar association?

Mr. Bowker: I am in the sense that I took part in many events that led 
up to it. I read in the Edmonton Journal a summary of Mr. Mclnncs’ state
ment, but I do not think I ever saw the final paper.

Mr. Mandziuk: I would suggest that if you read it you will realize that 
this brief does not go along with your argument.

Mr. Martin (Essex East): Well, I cannot agree with that statement 
That can be argued.

Mr. Mandziuk: You have made a lot of long speeches, and I am not—•
Mr. Martin (Essex East): I am not objecting to you making a speech. 

I have made long speeches, but they led to questions.
Mr. Mandziuk: I have dealt with it sooner than you have come to the 

question.
Mr. Martin (Essex East): I would suggest that you ask your question.
Mr. Mandziuk: I have asked questions.
The Chairman: Perhaps you could simply phrase your question a little 

differently.
Mr. Mandziuk: My one final question is: are you quite emphatic in your 

opinion that this bill is useless, worthless and unnecessary, or did you just 
try to give us that impression?
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The Chairman: I do not think he said that, but you can ask him if 
that is his opinion.

Mr. Mandziuk: Why did you go into an analysis of this bill then?
Mr. Bowker: I thought that was why I was invited here, sir.
I would like to answer your first question. I do not think at any time 

I said that, to use your own words, it was utterly useless.
Mr. Mandziuk: You did.
Mr. Bowker: Pardon me?
Mr. Mandziuk: You did.
Mr. Bowker: No. I would even say this, and I think I omitted it in my 

remarks, and I do not apologize for that; that the psychological value of a bill 
of this kind, or of any manifesto, or declaration of faith in what we believe 
is good, may have some value, but it is hard to appraise. I do not deprecate 
the possibility that it may have some value from that standpoint. The 
position I took was that this method was not as effective as the method I 
suggested.

Mr. Mandziuk: Your method, professor, if I understood your suggestion 
correctly, would be to make amendments, as Mr. Martin mentioned, to 48 
or perhaps 148 statutes, and that would be a better method?

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Mandziuk: Do you not think that a codification of human rights and 

freedoms to a new Canadian, who comes into this country, would be more 
understandable to him than having to go to a solicitor to make a search for 
his rights in 50 or 60 statutes?

Mr. Bowker: I agree that it may have some psychological value to the 
new Canadian, but as far as understanding it better and knowing what it 
means, I cannot agree, because I do not think anybody knows in advance 
the scope that will be given to these provisions.

Mr. Mandziuk: I would disagree with you, professor. Anyone who can 
read English and understand English can see the meaning of this bill.

Mr. Batten: Mr. Chairman, I have one or two questions I would like to 
ask the professor.

Sir, do you think that freedom and fundamental rights in Canada will 
be significantly improved by the passing of this bill?

Mr. Bowker: No.
Mr. Batten: My second question, Mr. Chairman, is this: do you think 

that those statutes, which are affected by this bill, if the bill were to pass, 
should be amended, or should be left to the courts to administer in the light 
of the bill of rights?

Mr. Bowker: I will have to ask you to repeat your question again, sir.
Mr. Batten: Assuming that this bill is passed.
Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Batten: It has been said that a number of acts already on the 

statute books would, in some way, interfere with the operation of the bill 
of rights.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Batten: Now, do you think these acts should be amended after the 

bill of rights has been passed, or should they be left to the courts to interpret 
in the light of the bill of rights?

Mr. Bowker: I would favour the first alternative. I realize the chairman is 
in favour of the x second. At least I assume that.
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Mr. Batten: My third question, Mr. Chairman, is this: many people, in 
discussions in the House of Commons, and some of the witnesses we have had 
here, have referred to this bill as “a first step” toward Canadians’ freedom and 
fundamental rights. What would be your opinion in that regard?

Mr. Bowker: I do not share that view. I think those people feel that the 
later step would be a constitutional bill. I think I am right in that. Many of 
those people think that it is a step toward a constitutional bill. I do not favour 
a constitutional bill, putting limits on the power of parliaments. I think parlia
ment should be entitled to make its own mistakes. This is a democratic country 
and I take the position that safeguarding, through a constitutional bill of rights, 
in some measure anyway, shows a lack of confidence in parliament that I do 
not share.

Mr. Batten: Thank you, professor.
May I continue, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Batten: Could you give us any examples in constitutional history 

where other countries’ bills of rights have been amended?
Mr. Bowker: The American bill of rights has been amended.
Mr. Batten: Yes.
Mr. Bowker: The bill of rights was the first ten amendments in the first 

place, and then after the civil war there were 13, 14 and 15.
Mr. Rapp: Mr. Chairman, I have a question.
The Chairman: Just a minute until I see if Mr. Batten is finished.
Mr. Batten: I am not quite finished yet. I have one or two more questions.
In respect to the wording of this bill, professor, do you think that clause 2 

is effective as a memorable declaration?
Mr. Bowker: I think it should have some effect as a declaration but I do 

not think I would use the adjective “memorable”. I do not put it on as high a 
plane as some people do.

Mr. Batten: Do you think that a preamble is important to such a bill 
as this?

Mr. Bowker: Yes, I do, and I am thinking of the Ontario Fair Accommoda
tion Act. I think there is some advantage to a preamble, if we are to have a 
declaration.

Mr. Batten: Having had this bill of rights discussed in the House of 
Commons, and having had it discussed across the country at various bar 
association meetings, and other places, do you think that freedom in Canada 
would be fundamentally weakened if this bill were not to pass?

Mr. Bowker: No. I hope we got the negatives right there. I hope there is 
no doubt about my answer. I think they would not be in jeopardy.

Mr. Batten: Do you think this bill can be characterized by its clarity, or 
arc there various places where it is ambiguous?

Mr. Bowker: I am not strictly interested in matters of detail. I think there 
are one or two where it is inept, such as the public trial provision, and the 
right of a witness, as distinct from an accused, to counsel. But I have not come 
2,400 miles just to pick what I thought were little holes in it.

On the larger question, I do not think I complain about the phraseology.
I certainly would not want to try to do any better, to carry out the policy of 
this bill. My criticism, I think, is a deeper one, that I am apprehensive about the 
general nature of most of the provisions, and the fact that it really gives judges 
the power to say what many statutes should mean.
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Mr. Batten: I have just one more question. Before I ask it, I want to draw 
to the professor’s attention that I recognize that he did not come 2,400 miles 
to pick small holes in this bill. What I am trying to get to is this: this bill is 
not only going to affect me, as a member of parliament; it is not only going 
to affect you, as a dean of law; but it is going to affect the ordinary man on 
the street, who is going to ask me questions which may be important to him. 
They may be small holes in the law to you, but they may be very important 
to him.

After all, this bill of rights is not only going to affect me, as a member of 
parliament, and you as a dean of law; but it is also going to affect the man on 
the street—and if we are going to forget him, it is not going to be worth very 
much.

I am going to ask you questions that I am likely to be asked, and I would 
like to get answers from a man of your understanding.

My final question is this: do you think there will be some people who will 
be encouraged to take their cases to a court of law, because of the bill of 
rights, when perhaps they could be advised beforehand that they are going 
to lose the case anyway? I am thinking about the waste of time, money, and 
all this sort of thing. Some people may misconstrue this bill of rights and take 
cases to the courts which they would lose anyway.

Mr. Bowker: I do think this, that the bill will give to counsel, on many 
occasions, an opening for attacking an act or, perhaps, a judgment of an 
administrative board, that was not there before; and it may cause delays 
and uncertainty. But some people might say that to some extent that is a 
good thing.

Mr. Batten : But do you think there will be some confusion in courts 
because of this bill of rights?

Mr. Bowker: My view is that there would be, sir.
Mr. Batten: Thank you very much, sir.
Mr. Mandziuk: Mr. Chairman, may I ask a question. Is that not the case 

with every statute? We always watch and see how the courts interpret it, to 
see whether it requires any changes or not. This is applicable to this bill also.

Mr. Bowker: To some extent.
Mr. Mandziuk: To all extents. This applies to almost everything. We have 

had our B.N.A. act interpreted by the courts.
Mr. Bowker: Yes. My point is this. Let us imagine that we think there 

is a provision in the code that is unfair, and parliament amends it. Everybody 
knows that amendment may be uncertain in its application in borderline cases, 
as long as we are human. I have a lot of sympathy for the draftsmen; but that 
is true. I think that uncertainty is multiplied when we have to consider the 
effect of this bill on the statute.

Mr. Stewart: Mr. Chairman, I have listened to the professor’s interpreta
tion and analysis of this bill of rights with a great deal of interest, and I am 
going to put a general proposition to you, Professor Bowker.

With regard to the human rights and fundamental freedoms that we are 
talking about today, they have developed out of the English common law and 
the interpretation of our statute law by benevolent judges; you will agree 
with that?

Mr. Bowker: In large measure.
Mr. Stewart: Does that same thing not apply to the interpretation of this 

bill of rights? The bill of rights will be interpreted by the judges under cir
cumstances existing at the time of the interpretation and as our knowledge of 
fundamental rights develops?



160 SPECIAL COMMITTEE

Mr. Bowker: I follow your point, that if the judges have done a good job 
in the common law and in interpretation of existing statutes, we should be 
able to trust them to do a similarly good job here.

Mr. Stewart: Keeping in mind that the rule is that judges do not make 
the law, but that they only interpret it. As you know, as history has developed, 
it has shown that is not true; judges have added to the statute law and—

Mr. Bowker: By putting more flesh on the bones?
Mr. Stewart: Yes, that is right.
Mr. Bowker: Yes, definitely.
Mr. Stewart: That is what I had in mind, in viewing this statute: should 

the same thing not apply—will it not apply?
Mr. Bowker: That is, of course, historically true; but at other times judges 

have not taken such a charitable view of legislation and have tended to restrict 
it, even sometimes to emasculate it.

Mr. Stewart: And then parliament comes along and makes the amend
ment.

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
Mr. Stewart: Correcting the erroneous judge, if necessary.
Mr. Bowker: I think there is a distinction between the traditional role of 

judges in playing a part in building up our freedoms, and the role of judges 
who are applying a constitutional bill of rights, or even a bill like this, which 
is not constitutional—it is not a constitutional limitation, but it has some of 
the overriding qualities of one.

I make this suggestion—and I know it is debatable—that the judges will 
not do as good a job in that function as they have in the traditional function. 
I would have to take my examples from the Supreme Court of the United 
States—and you can find examples there for everything.

There have been times when the judges have nullified fine social legisla
tion in the name of the bill of rights. But I realize you have a point. I hope 
I do not sound condescending in putting it that way.

Mr. Rapp: Mr. Chairman, the question about a preamble was asked by 
Mr. Batten, and so I am not going to ask that question again. But, Professor, 
you said that actually the bill of rights does not mean very much. You are 
aware, of course, that one-third of the people in this country are immigrants 
who came here, and what is stated here in clause 2, paragraphs (a), (b), (c), 
down to (/)—the reason some of these people came to this country is because 
they were deprived of the liberties mentioned in those paragraphs.

Do you not think it would means anything to them, after they learn the 
language? As I said, one-third of our population is composed of people of 
foreign origin. Do you not think it would mean anything if they read, as it 
says here, “the right of the individual to life, liberty” and so on; or if they 
read “freedom of assembly and association”?

I know you have legal training—and, of course, as one of our members 
said, “I am of British stock, and this bill means a bag of bones to me”; but 
as far as I am concerned, I know what it means to some people. Do you not 
think it is a good thing?

Mr. Bowker: Sir, I do not think anything I have said today, or at any 
other time, deprecates that point, and in my article in the Bar Review I did 
make that point that you just made. I did it by way of concession, because 
it was the greatest good I could see in the bill. But I never deprecated that, 
and I do not now. I think that is probably its greatest value.

I do say this, sir—and this is a matter of opinion, and you may not agree— 
that I doubt that immigrants, or new Canadians, would be influenced so
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much by this document, or a constitutional bill of rights, as by what they find 
in fact. Every dictatorship in the world has got a more impressive looking bill 
of rights than this. I might have to except one or two dictatorships; but I 
think we all know that is so.

I do not take a cynical position about these things at all. I never came 
into this committee to say, “Some dictatorships”—that we could all name— 
“have a bill of rights; therefore, they are waste paper.” I never suggested 
that, and I do not now—and I think we have reason to be proud.

Perhaps I underestimate the value of that argument; but I do not think 
a country like Britain or Canada need take a back seat when they are being 
asked: how do you stand on this?—just because they do not have a short 
bill to point to. I do not disagree with your point, though.

The Chairman : Professor, I am very much troubled about this. I cer
tainly do not want to keep you any longer than necessary; but this bill unani
mously received second reading. Therefore, I think those of us on this com
mittee are in agreement on the general principle of a bill of rights. If this bill 
of rights is deficient, I feel that the committee would like to make it as effec
tive as possible.

You have indicated that this bill, as it is worded now, would seem to have 
rather negligible value. I will accept that for the time being. But in clause 3 
we see that all acts of the Parliament of Canada enacted before the passing 
of this act, as well as those that will be enacted hereafter, shall be so con
strued and applied—-

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
The Chairman: If this is enacted, is it not an elementary principle of con

struction of statutes that this is being superimposed upon all the statute law 
that we have at the present time?

Mr. Bowker: Yes.
The Chairman: You would agree with that?
Mr. Bowker : Yes; but I am not clear, for example, whether it would give 

an Indian the vote.
The Chairman: Oh, well—
Mr. Bowker: And that is precisely the sort of thing—
Mr. Mandziuk: This parliament has already given the Indian the vote.
Mr. Bowker: I am aware of that.
The Chairman: Would you let me continue.
Mr. Mandziuk: On that point, Mr. Chairman: supposing we had not given 

the Indian the vote; that the due process of the law said he did not have the 
vote. I still say that there would be no breach of this bill, because the due 
process of law is what the law says. The law may deprive me of my property, 
of my liberty, of anything, if parliament of Canada passes it and you so admit 
that the parliament of Canada is the highest court in the land or the highest 
organ we have.

The Chairman: Let me continue. Professor, may I direct you to paragraph 
3(c). Do you believe that if this act is passed—even as it stands now—that 
hereafter a person arrested or detained is not going to be informed promptly 
of the reason for his arrest or detention?

Mr. Bowker: He has to be now under the code.
The Chairman: Under what section?
Mr. Bowker: The new section that was put in to embody the rule in 

Leachinski versus Christie.
The Chairman: Does it say “promptly”?



162 SPECIAL COMMITTEE

Mr. Bowker: I would have to have the code here. It was put in the new 
code, sir; it was not in the old one. I would like to have it before me before 
I firmly state it covers the same ground, but I am quite sure it does.

The Chairman: Do you not think that people today are being detained 
without being promptly informed of the reason for their detention

Mr. Bowker: I cannot say, but under the Criminal Code they should not be.
The Chairman: How about the right to retain and instruct counsel with

out delay? Is that preserved by any provision in the Criminal Code?
Mr. Bowker: Yes. The right to counsel is in the code.
The Chairman: Yes, you have a right to counsel in your defence; but I 

am speaking about “without delay”. Those are the words I am using. Do you 
think those things in any event are not going to be denied after this act is 
passed, if it is?

Mr. Bowker: Well, I would have to come back to my first position that I 
would think the place where this kind of provision belongs is in the Criminal 
Code, and, of course, there are other statutes to which the code applies.

The Chairman: Do you not think also cases come before the courts in 
which the courts have protested against the severity of the statute law which 
they have to apply? I have heard magistrates say many many times that if 
they had their option in the matter they would not apply and would not give 
effect to the statute. Do you not think that this bill of rights does further arm 
the courts to so interpret the statutory law so as not to violate any of these 
principles of freedom? It must have some effect.

Mr. Bowker: I think my difference is that I believe it should be left to 
parliament.

The Chairman: Apart from spelling it out in the individual statutes— 
which of course you have recommended—in the absence of that how would we 
put greater sanctions into this bill? Are you able to suggest any?

Mr. Bowker: No, because I really did not think of the bill in terms of 
strengthening it; but my position is that it would be more satisfactory for 
the benefit of the subject to have it in definite form in definite statutes. I am 
only repeating what I said before. I certainly am not indifferent to strengthen
ing the security of human rights; far from it.

Mr. Badanai: The dean has been critical of the bill and has suggested that 
it lacks teeth—power. What about clause 4? Would a parliamentary com
mittee doing something similar be more effective; say a parliamentary com
mittee of the Senate which would listen to a grievance of a petitioner in the 
event of a Canadian citizen thinking he is being deprived of some rights. 
I think in the government of New Zealand they have such a committee. When 
a citizen feels he is deprived of some civil rights he appeals to this particular 
committee. Clause 4 gives certain powers to the Minister of Justice. In your 
opinion would a committee be more effective?

Mr. Bowker: I do not think I have any firm opinion on that. I really do 
not. I do not think whether I would say yes or no would have much weight, 
because I do not see any basis for saying that one would be better than the 
other. Perhaps one would be, but I do not feel qualified to express that 
opinion.

Mr. Badanai: Then you would not want to express an opinion on the 
marriage of a parliamentary committee with perhaps a Senate committee.

Mr. Bowker: I doubt very much that I know enough about parliamentary 
procedure. I think I would have had the opinion that whenever any bill comes 
forward that the members collectively would give these things scrutiny. I do 
not even know to what extent you use committees.



HUMAN RIGHTS AND FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS 163

Mr. Badanai: What I am thinking about is a petition committee which 
listens to petitions. I might say that Australia has a commissioner who listens 
to petitions. If a citizen feels he is being wrongfully or unjustly accused of 
something, this commissioner listens to the petition and advises the minister of 
justice accordingly.

Mr. Bowker: I am just not familiar with that, but I would say this; if 
such a committee provides the man in the street a channel to the powers 
that be, it would seem to me to be a good thing. I know that in some places 
in the realm of discrimination the legislature sets up what they call an anti- 
discrimination committee. It is not usually a committee of the house; it is a 
secretariat in the public. Quite a few of the states have that. Perhaps some 
of the departments of government have it; I do not know.

Mr. Badanai: That is the point I wanted to make. Thank you.
Mr. Batten: Would the citizen prefer to trust his own rights to the 

Minister of Justice and his officials rather than to a committee of parliament? 
I use the phrase “committee of parliament” to include members of the Senate.

Mr. Bowker: What is your question, please?
Mr. Batten: Would you prefer to have your rights in the trust of the 

Minister of Justice and his officials or in this particular committee?
Mr. Bowker: I think I would feel confident in the hands of either.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, are there any further questions? If not, I 

would like, on behalf of the committee, professor, to convey to you our thanks 
and appreciation for appearing before us and giving us the benefit of your 
views on this legislation, and particularly for coming on comparatively short 
notice.

Mr. Bowker: It was an honour to be asked, sir.
The Chairman : Thank you.
We stand adjourned until 9.30 tomorrow morning. I understand tomorrow 

morning we will hear from a representative of the Christian Science church, 
and in the afternoon we hope to have representatives from the Canadian labour 
congress.
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